
1 of 12 
 

Housing & Community Development Committee 

Minutes of September 24, 2014 Meeting 

 

A meeting of the Portland City Council’s Housing and Community Development 

Committee (HCDC) was held on Wednesday, September 24, 2014 at 5:30 p.m. in Room 209 on 

the second floor of Portland City Hall.  Present from the HCDC was its Chair Councilor Kevin 

Donoghue, and members Councilors Jon Hinck, and Nicholas Mavodones.  Committee member 

Councilor John Coyne could not be present.  City staff present included Housing & Community 

Development Division Director Mary Davis, HCD Program Manager Amy Grommes-Pulaski, 

Acting City Manager Sheila Hill-Christian (joining the meeting as noted in the minutes), 

Planning and Urban Development Director Jeff Levine, Waterfront Coordinator William 

Needelman, and Senior Executive Assistant Lori Paulette. 

Item 1:  Review and accept Minutes from previous meeting held on August 27, 2014.  

 On motion made and seconded, the Committee voted unanimously to accept the minutes 

as published. 

Item 2:  Review and recommendation to City Council – Improvements to CDBG 

Process 

Ms. Pulaski gave an overview of the four recommendations for improvements, which 

included:  (1) staff recommendation for prioritizing public infrastructure/public improvement 

projects for each Council District, with one priority per year for each District.  There were 12 

applications last year, with 4 approved; therefore, this recommendation; (2) staff supported the 

Allocation Committee recommendation to eliminate 3 bonus points for “basic needs” and also 

for “childcare programs/projects”.  Last year nine of fourteen social service programs received 

1 of 24 (including attachments)



2 of 12 
 

bonus points, seven were funded. Only one application that did not receive bonus points was 

funded. This is being recommended so that all applications can stand on their own.  (3) Staff 

recommendation to preserve set-aside for community policing in the amount of $150,000, and 

$400,000 for the Employment Development Program ($300,000 in development funds and 

$100,000 in social service funds).  (4)  Staff recommendation to eliminate the ability for 

individual business to apply for funding through CDBG application process for economic 

development projects, since the CDBG program funds the Business Assistance Grant Program 

for Job Creation through the City of Portland Economic Development Department (EDD), the 

Portland Microenterprise Assistance Program through CEI, and the new Portland Jobs Alliance.  

Businesses looking for assistance can utilize one of these resources. 

Councilor Mavodones requested clarification on the last recommendation. 

Ms. Davis said that since there are three organizations listed above that receive CDBG 

funding in order to provide businesses with loans and technical assistance, it would be a 

duplication of effort for a business to apply directly to her staff for CDBG funds.  In addition, her 

staff does not provide technical assistance for businesses.   

Ms. Pulaski added that when a business applies for assistance from CDBG, the CDBG 

application process is slow with applications received by November and, if successful, applicants 

would see funding the following July.  With this recommendation, HCD staff would refer any 

future business assistance requests to one of the appropriate three agencies mentioned above.  To 

date, the EDD through the BAP program has funded $125,000 in grant requests to approximately 

7 businesses. 

2 of 24 (including attachments)



3 of 12 
 

Councilor Mavodones said that this works, but he would not want to reduce funding for 

economic development through CDBG, and Ms. Pulaski assured him that funding would not be 

reduced because of this recommendation. 

Councilor Hinck asked about competitive advantages to businesses who receive CDBG 

funding, and Mr. Levine said that if a business, for instance, applies to the EDD and receives a 

grant, then it could possibly put that business in a better competitive advantage to hire additional 

employees, as it is a grant/match program for job creation. 

Chair Donoghue asked if there was any public comment; there being none, the public 

comment session was closed. 

Chair Donoghue said that he was fine with the set asides as recommended.  He asked 

about any set aside for the Home Team, and Ms. Pulaski said that is not currently one of the 

recommendations.  Also, CDBG did not fund the Home Team last year. 

Councilor Mavodones said that he was okay with no set aside for the Home Team as 

there may be other entities in the community to provide resources.  During budget time, 

however, he would entertain requests for the Home Team. 

Chair Donoghue said that with regard to bonus points, he was okay with no bonus points 

for basic needs, but he would recommend keeping in bonus points for child care.  He went on to 

indicate that child care offers a great service to low income households to get in the workforce 

and for their economic health. 

Councilor Mavodones said that he is supportive of the recommendation for no bonus 

points to level the playing field.  He then made a motion to forward the recommendations as 

presented today by staff to the City Council for approval.  Chair Donoghue seconded the motion. 

3 of 24 (including attachments)



4 of 12 
 

Chair Donoghue then made a motion to amend the main motion to allow bonus points for 

child care; Councilor Mavodones seconded the motion for discussion. 

Councilor Hinck said that with the Chair’s explanation of the need for this, he would 

support this amendment. 

Chair Donoghue then asked for a vote on the amendment to the main motion and it 

passed 2-1 (Mavodones).  He then asked for a vote on the main motion, and it passed 

unanimously. 

Item #3:  Review and possible recommendation to Proceed – RFP for the sale and 

development of City-owned property at 65 Munjoy Street. 

Mr. Levine said when the Adams School closed in 2006, the City, after due diligence, 

sent out an RFP for its sale.  Avesta was the only proposer, but, due to market conditions and 

financing issues, Avesta asked for the City to divide the property into two parcels, requesting an 

option to develop the second at a later date, which the City did not grant.  The parcel that 

remains undeveloped includes the parking lot – the subject of the RFP, the playground, and 

knoll.  A consultant was hired, Bluestone Planning Group, to conduct a financial feasibility for 

affordable housing options on the parking lot.  They offered options, with the one preferred 

being two triple decker’s, yielding 8 units.  Mr. Levine then described the design, noting that the 

goal is to have these affordable at 100% to 120% of area median income levels or below, and the 

deed would also contain this condition for 90 years.  To develop these for affordable housing, the 

City subsidy would be offering the land at no cost.  The playground and knoll would not be part 

of the property in the RFP. 

Mr. Levine added that the property is in an R6 zone, which is currently under discussion 

for amending, particularly with regard to parking and ratios of cars to dwelling units. 

4 of 24 (including attachments)



5 of 12 
 

Councilor Mavodones asked about noticing for this meeting, and Mr. Levine said that 

notices were mailed out, and he also placed notices on doorknobs in the neighborhood. 

Councilor Mavodones asked if there had been a neighborhood meeting regarding this, 

and Mr. Levine indicated that there had not.  Once the RFP is issued and proposals in, a 

neighborhood meeting could be arranged to review the proposals and provide feedback. 

Ms. Davis added that since the HCDC packet was sent out, she received emails for both 

this and the 157 Bracket Street property; these emails are on the Committee members’ desks 

(and attached hereto). 

Chair Donoghue asked about tandem parking in driveways at 3 or 4 deep, and Mr. Levine 

indicated that 4 may be a bit much but is open to creative suggestions. 

Chair Donoghue then asked if there was any public comment for the item. 

Richard Weare, who owns property in the area, said that he created the petition that is in 

the meeting backup material and everyone he requested to sign the petition against the sale of the 

property did so.  He suggested that the City have a neighborhood meeting first before 

considering an RFP for the property.  Regarding tandem parking in driveways, 4 cars would be 

too much.  Parking in this area is already a problem, and, with the addition of the St. Lawrence 

Community Center and 200 seats, it will become even more difficult.  This parking lot is used 

for off street parking and snow bans, and perhaps for future use by St. Lawrence and should kept 

for parking. 

(Acting City Manager Sheila Hill-Christian joined the meeting at this time.) 

Ron Moss at 31 Pine Street said that housing is more important for Portland than parking. 

Sean Turley of 62 Vesper Street agreed that housing is good for the area; there is public 

transportation for use. 

5 of 24 (including attachments)



6 of 12 
 

Jake Jones, 56 Moody Street, shared the parking issue concerns for the neighborhood, 

particularly with the St. Lawrence Community Center addition, which will only exacerbate the 

parking issues.  Even one car per unit would add to the current parking crunch, and snow ban 

parking is already difficult. 

Ian Jacobs said that housing does not have to provide parking. 

Christine McHale, of Walker Street, spoke in support of keeping this parking lot as it is, 

particularly for people her age – 60 and over – to have this close by; it is also needed during 

snow bans.  This parking area is essential for the neighborhood. 

Marianna Bonetti, of Wilson Street, said she and her tenants work out of town so vehicles 

are needed.  She supports keeping the parking lot as it is. 

Chair Donoghue asked if there was any further public comment, there being none, the 

public comment session was closed. 

Councilor Mavodones suggested that the City engage with the neighborhood first in a 

meeting before possibly issuing an RFP.  He agrees that Portland needs housing, but this 

interaction with the neighborhood should take place first. 

Councilor Hinck said that the City will run into this issue again and again.  Higher 

density of housing is good and needed, but he also sees the value of the parking as noted today. 

Chair Donoghue, 75 Beckett Street on Munjoy Hill, said that he is always able to find a 

parking spot.  He also supported the creation of parking spaces on the Eastern Prom, on which 

there are now approximately 100 new spaces.  Affordable housing is desperately needed to keep 

young people in Portland, where many homes on Munjoy Hill are in the $500,000 to $1 Million 

range.  Chair Donoghue said that he was pleased with the outreach to neighbors and renters as 

can be evidenced by those present today and does not object to a neighborhood meeting, but he 

6 of 24 (including attachments)



7 of 12 
 

feels that this housing RFP should be pursued.  Chair Donoghue then asked about development 

in lieu of parking, and Mr. Levine said that to further study this would take some time and 

additional funding for the consultant.  He will check into this, while also noting that the R6 

zoning was still under discussions for revisions. 

Councilor Mavodones then suggested, and the Committee concurred, to postpone this 

item and have a meeting with the neighborhood.  Councilor Hinck said that he hopes to be able 

to participate in the meeting and was looking to the neighborhood to help City leaders sort out 

housing and parking uses. 

Item #4:  Review and possible recommendation to proceed – RFP for the sale and 

development of City-owned property at 157 Brackett Street with the condition that 

adequate replacement parking be provided in any development proposal. 

Mr. Levine opened this up saying that since the subject lot is actively used by Reiche 

School and residents, it was not considered back when staff was looking at various City lots for 

possible housing development.  However, staff received contact for its potential development, 

and, therefore, this has been brought to the HCDC for guidance and possible recommendation to 

move forward with an RFP with the condition to replace existing parking on site or nearby.  The 

RFP needs more clarification on the number of spaces needed, location, and safety/security 

requirements.  Most likely, the subject lot would be added to abutting property for housing 

development. 

Councilor Mavodones noted that the selection criteria does not have language regarding 

parking, which is a key issue.  Reiche School’s parking needs are a priority for him, and he 

requested staff meet with the School to determine what those needs are, as well as needs for the 

7 of 24 (including attachments)



8 of 12 
 

residents.  Councilor Mavodones said that he would like to have a stronger comfort level that 

there are reasonable alternatives for parking before issuing an RFP. 

Chair Donoghue then opened the meeting for public comment. 

Greg Frangoulis, 139 Brackett Street, said that there are approximately 30 spaces in the 

lot now, and, during snow bans, up to 60 cars  park in tandem there, so it is a highly used parking 

lot for the area.  Also, on Wednesday nights, there is no parking in the streets, so that is another 

use for the lot.  In addition, 39 units are now being added at Pine and Brackett Streets.  This is 

already a highly dense area, and the parking lot should remain. 

Ron Moss(?) noted that there are two houses falling apart nearby that could be developed, 

and noted that any development could have parking on the ground floor and housing units above. 

Resident at 119 Brackett Street – This resident also noted the ban on onstreet parking 

Wednesday nights, and this parking lot is the only one in the area for use.  It is extremely well 

used, 100% daily.   

Jeanne Swanton, Thomas Street, noted safety issues for Reiche School in the area, 

particularly crossing streets and bus drop off.  The CIP had funds for Reiche School which were 

ultimately taken away.  Many children walk to this School, and more development will make it 

less safe.  She said that allowing this sale without addressing safety issues first is not acceptable.   

Todd Alexander, 3 Carroll Street, said that he has three daughters who go to Reiche 

School and appreciates the concerns expressed – traffic, housing, blight problems, tax problems, 

and safety.  The RFP being contemplated today is an opportunity for a developer to provide the 

City with its best idea on how lot could be used to fix some of these issues.  Once developed, it 

will also bring in an estimated $40,000 in additional tax dollars to the City.  If the City doesn’t 

like the proposals received, they can be thrown out.  He also noted the development of the City 

8 of 24 (including attachments)



9 of 12 
 

lot and Danforth and High street, where it was used by USM and for snow ban parking.  

Community Housing of Maine developed it with 30 units and 13 parking spaces.  Creative 

development can help with neighborhood issues. 

Ian Jacob of State Street said that Reiche School is a separate issue.  He then referred to 

the draft RFP highlighting deed restrictions of 90 years for the minimum term of affordability.  

He suggested that a parking restriction of, for example, 20 years also be included, and then 

revisited after 20 years. 

Judy Watson of 90 Pine Street also highlighted pedestrian and traffic safety issues that 

the City should address for the area and for Reiche School.  Several crosswalks are needed, 

particularly on Brackett Street, as well as a traffic study should be conducted by the City. 

Seth Parker, 80 Spruce Street, said that he lives in the area with two small children and 

appreciates the issues raised here today.  He supports housing density, and this is an opportunity 

to address issues.  Mr. Parker also noted that additional crosswalks and curb cuts in the area 

could help with pedestrian safety issues. 

Kathryn Gilbert, 92 Winter Street, said that the subject lot is in back of her house, and it 

is never empty.  A crosswalk is needed for that lot to the school.  She said that that portion of 

Brackett Street should be a pedestrian way due to the school, residences, and businesses.  Safety 

is definitely a concern with all the pedestrian activity. 

Chad Knight, owner of “Fresh Approach”, echoed the safety concerns, noting that he 

could write a book on the all the safety issues, particularly for children crossing the street to 

come to his store.  If the parking lot is not available, he said it would be even worse; there is no 

room for development, and the School Department and safety should come first. 

9 of 24 (including attachments)



10 of 12 
 

Carl Akery said that development can work in partnership to do something good, and 

appreciated the neighbors speaking to these safety issues. 

Hazel Holmes, 67 Brackett Street, said that this is an active lot with various users.  

Replacement parking important, and the RFP lacks details needed to insure the users that ample 

replacement parking would be provided.  She felt the City needed to hear more from the 

neighborhood before putting this out to RFP. 

Chair Donoghue, noting no further public comment, closed the public comment session. 

Councilor Mavodones agreed that there is opportunity for development to enhance an 

area’s issues.  Reiche School is a large issue for him, and he would need more clarification, as he 

noted earlier, to help frame key points to be included in an RFP regarding parking for both 

Reiche and the neighborhood, as well as clarifying language in the RFP to add parking to the 

selection criteria process and scoring. 

Councilor Hinck agreed, adding that these safety issues should be dealt with with or 

without this development.  Regarding an RFP for the parking lot, once there is a good 

understanding of parking needs, he was optimistic that the RFP could go forward. 

Councilor Donoghue said that he would also like to have more details on the current 

parking available/needed so that a minimum amount of replacement parking spaces in an RFP 

can be defensible.  Safety issues need to be dealt with separately from the RFP, perhaps in 

tandem with the budget process and appropriate Council committee.   

Mr. Levine said that the parking can be tightened up in the RFP and could bring it to one 

of the Committee’s October meetings. 

Councilor Mavodones said that a meeting with the neighborhood should come first. 

10 of 24 (including attachments)



11 of 12 
 

Councilor Hinck agreed, particularly to be sure people are listening about these safety 

issues. 

Ms. Hill-Christian also agreed, saying that the RFP is one issue, and safety concerns are 

another and should be dealt with separately from the RFP by the City through various funding 

methods. 

Councilor Mavodones concurred, noting that this proposed RFP opened the doors to both 

the City and public to hear about these concerns.  Regarding the RFP, before he is comfortable 

with its issuance, he needs to get his arms around the parking needs for all involved. 

Chair Donoghue said that the safety issues should move quicker than the development 

issues.   

Ms. Hill-Christian said that City staff, including Public Safety, Traffic, and others, 

together with the appropriate Council Committee, can take up these safety concerns. 

Chair Donoghue, noting consensus of a neighborhood meeting, as well as parking in the 

RFP getting tightened up, thanked everyone for their input and would look forward to the RFP 

coming back to this Committee. 

Item #5:  Review and comment on communication item – FY13/14 HUD 

Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation Report (CAPER) to be submitted to HUD 

by September 30, 2014. 

Ms. Davis, noting the time, summarized this communication as a public notification of 

the CAPER report, which report highlights accomplishments for the CDBG, HOME, and ESG 

Programs.  This will be submitted to HUD by September 30, 2014. 

The Committee thanked Ms. Davis for the report. 

11 of 24 (including attachments)



12 of 12 
 

Item #6:  Review and comment on communication item:  Update on Portland 

2014/2015 Work Plan activities, including the 2014/2015 Portland Economic Scorecard. 

Due to the hour, the Committee moved directly to the next item. 

Item #7:  Executive Session -  Pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 405 (6)(C) and 5 M.R.S.A. 

13119-A, to provide City staff direction, the Committee will go into executive session to 

discuss:   

a. Provide guidance to staff related to a proposed Land Swap on Spring 

Street/Cotton Street and City property ownership. 

b. Provide guidance to staff related to a possible new tenant and lease terms for 

use of second floor office space at Portland Ocean Terminal. 
 

On motion made and seconded, the Committee voted unanimously to go into executive 

session at approximately 7:55 p.m. pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 405 (6)(C) and 5 M.R.S.A. 13119-A, 

to provide City staff direction on the item 7(a) and (b) above.  

At approximately 8:20 p.m., the Committee came out of executive session and the 

meeting adjourned. 

      Respectfully, 

      Lori Paulette 

12 of 24 (including attachments)



13 of 24 (including attachments)



14 of 24 (including attachments)



15 of 24 (including attachments)



16 of 24 (including attachments)



17 of 24 (including attachments)



18 of 24 (including attachments)



19 of 24 (including attachments)



20 of 24 (including attachments)



21 of 24 (including attachments)



22 of 24 (including attachments)



23 of 24 (including attachments)



24 of 24 (including attachments)




